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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD


P.O. Box 115512


Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	MAGGIE E. (YARBROUGH) FAILLA, 

                                                   Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

FAIRBANKS RESOURCE AGENCY, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASS’N,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200020715
AWCB Decision No. 10-0169
Filed with AWCB Fairbanks, Alaska

on October 8, 2010


The Northern Panel of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee's claim for permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) benefits, temporary partial disability (“TPD”) benefits, permanent total disability (“PTD”) benefits, medical benefits, penalty, interest, and unfair and frivolous controversion, in Fairbanks, Alaska, on July 15, 2010 and the Board extended the hearing to September 3, 2010 for additional testimony.  The employee represents herself.  Attorney Robin Gabbert represents the employer and insurer (“employer”).  At the close of argument on September 3, 2010, the Board agreed to consider certain evidentiary objections by the employer before deciding the claim.  The Board closed the record when it next met, September 9, 2010.

ISSUES

The employee contends the treatment from her physicians has been reasonable and necessary.  She contended her personality disorder arises from the stress of defending her claim.  She contends she will need TPD benefits for life.  She additionally contends the employer frivolously and unfairly controverted her benefits.

 The employer contends the employee has intentionally mislead the employer, the physicians, and the Board; and she is malingering.  It contends the preponderance of the medical evidence shows the employee recovered from her work injury within six months, and that her psychological problems are long-standing and not related to her work injury. 
(1)  
Is the employee entitled to TPD benefits, under AS 23.30.200?

(2)  
Is the employee entitled to an award of PPI benefits, under AS 23.30.190?

(3)  
Is the employee entitled to PTD benefits, under AS 23.30.180?

(4) 
Is the employee entitled to an award of additional medical benefits, under AS 23.30.095?

(5)  
Is the employee entitled to penalties, under AS 23.30.155(e)?

(6)  
Is the employee entitled to interest, under AS 23.30.155(p)?

(7) 
Did the employer frivolously and unfairly controvert the employee’s benefits, under AS 23.30.155(o)?

FINDINGS OF FACT

Based on the preponderance of the evidence
 available in the record, the Board finds:

1).
The evidence and history of this case were discussed in the Board’s June 25, 2004 Decision and Order
 as follows, in part:

While working as a nursing assistant for the employer on October 2, 2000, the employee injured herself lifting a disabled patient.  Eric Meffley, PA-C saw the employee for persisting pain in her neck, back, and left shoulder on October 6, 2000, providing conservative care, including referral to physical therapy.
  The employee filed an injury report on October 9, 2000.
  She saw Victor Bartling, M.D., on November 20, 2000, for continued back pain and radiculopathy, and was referred for a magnetic resonance imaging ("MRI") study of her cervical spine.
  Dr. Bartling reported the November 30, 2000 MRI was unremarkable.
 

Carl Unsicker, M.D., examined the employee on January 19, 2001.  Dr. Unsicker suspected lumbar involvement, and ordered a lumbar MRI.
  The MRI was taken on January 26, 2001, and revealed a central and right-sided herniated disc at L4-5.
  Orthopedic surgeon Richard Cobden, M.D., examined the employee on February 14, 2001, who found a limited range of motion in the cervical spine, and an otherwise normal neurological examination, and diagnosed chronic lumbar and cervical strains.
  Dr. Cobden referred her to neurologist Janice Oronato, M.D., for neurological testing on March 15, 2001.  Dr. Oronato found no electrophysiological evidence of tibial or sciatic neuropathy, and the origin of the employee's symptoms was not clear.
  

Orthopedic surgeon John Joosse, M.D., evaluated the employee at the employer's request on April 4, 2001.  Dr. Joosse could identify no objective findings, and found her neurological examination to be normal.
  He could not correlate any of her reported symptoms with the L4-5 disc herniation.
  He indicated it appeared to him that the employee's complaints were psychosocial in nature, and he recommended a psychiatric evaluation.

In a medical report on April 16, 2001, Dr. Cobden indicated the employee's work injury caused a strain syndrome to her neck and back, and that she may have herniated her lumbar disc in that incident.
  He noted she may be suffering psychosocial problems,
 but her symptoms and reports to other physicians were consistent with her work injury.
  He felt she needed physical therapy and medication.
  Dr. Cobden indicated she may need to be permanently restricted from her work as a personal care attendant.
  He reported she was nearing medical stability, and needed an impairment rating.
   

The employer initially provided temporary total disability ("TTD") benefits and medical care. Based on Dr. Joosse's examination, the employer controverted benefits on April 14, 2001.
  The employee filed a Workers' Compensation Claim on May 23, 2001, requesting (as clarified in a June 9, 2001 prehearing conference): TTD benefits from the date of their termination, permanent partial impairment ("PPI") benefits when rated, medical benefits, and a finding of frivolous and unfair controversion.
  In response to the employee’s claim, the employer again controverted benefits on June 15, 2001, based on Dr. Joosse's examination.
  The employee paid TTD benefits and medical benefits from her injury through April 14, 2001.

Randall McGregor, M.D., examined the employee on May 3, 2001, finding symptoms consistent with right lumbar radiculopathy.
  He also noted the employee appeared to suffer a generalized myofacial syndrome on the posterior neck and shoulders.  He administered an epidural steroid injection.

A dispute arose between the parties over whether or not the employee would release her past records concerning psychological or psychiatric assessment and treatment.  At a hearing on November 1, 2001, the employee testified she had suffered depression at 16 years of age, when her boyfriend died; and had been hospitalized for a "nervous breakdown" in September 2000.
  However, she argued that her neck and back injury is not related to any psychological problem, and that she should not be required to release those records.  The employer asserted that the employee’s symptoms are the result of long-standing psychological dynamics, originating in the employee’s teen years. It appended a number of pleadings from other legal proceedings and several psychological records in support of this argument.  We addressed the discovery disputes in AWCB Decision No. 0229 (November 15, 2001) and AWCB Decision No. 01- 0251 (December 14, 2001).

Additional disputes arose over the employee’s failure to sign releases, and the employer controverted the employee’s benefits on January 17, 2002, under AS 23.30.108(a). 
  [Discovery disputes persisted throughout the period of this claim. The employer again controverted the employee’s benefits for failure to sign releases on January 7, 2004. 
]
At the employer's request, the employee was evaluated by psychiatrist Ronald Turco, M.D., on October 10, 2001.  In his October 11, 2001 report, Dr. Turco recited the employee's history and reviewed medical and court records of earlier psychological troubles, and discussed the results of a Minnesota multiphase personality inventory (“MMPI-II”) test.
  He diagnosed a conversion disorder with chronic depressive symptoms, which he felt was not substantially caused or aggravated by her work injury.  He believed she was "translating" psychological conflicts into physical symptoms.  

The employee was treated for back spasms at the Fairbanks Memorial Hospital on December 5, 2001 and December 17, 2001.
  David Withal, M.D., examined the employee in Dr. Cordon’s absence on February 20, 2002, and found her complaints did not correlate to her physical examination.
  On January 7, 2002, Dr. Cobden indicated she should have conservative care only.
  He reported she was ready for a PPI rating, but indicated he would wait for the insurer’s request.
   On January 17, 2002, Dr. Cobden reported the employee’s symptoms correlated with a lumbosacral strain, without definite herniation pressure on the nerve root.  On September 4, 2002, Dr. Cobden reported the employee continued to show evidence of L4-5 herniation.
  He also noted the employee continued to have left shoulder and right knee symptoms.
  He encouraged the employee to attend a pain clinic.
  

Based on the disputes between the physicians, we ordered a second independent medical evaluation (“SIME”) by orthopedic surgeon John McDermott, M.D., and psychiatrist Ronald Early, M.D., Ph.D.  Dr. McDermott saw her on April 22, 2002.  In his report, Dr. McDermott indicated the employee’s complaints of pain in her shoulder and back and numbness in her legs were unassociated with objective findings.
  He could find no residuals of trauma from her neck injury, and found her medically stable without permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) ratable under the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th Ed. (“AMA Guides”).
  He felt that psychiatric difficulties overshadowed her  complaints. 

In his SIME report, Dr. Early diagnosed the employee to be suffering a histrionic personality disorder and a chronic pain syndrome.
  Although he noted some dispute among the physicians, he found the employee’s treating physicians generally reported symptoms consistent with a herniated disk.
  He reported the employee’s pain disorder arose from a combination of her non-work related histrionic personality disorder and the sequealae of her work injury.
  He felt that her pain disorder was caused, in part, by her work injury.
  He felt the employee was not malingering.
  He indicated the employee is not a good candidate for surgery, and that it would not be likely to resolve her symptoms.
  He reported the employee’s pain disorder was not medically stable. 
  He indicated she could not return to her work as a personal care attendant. 
  If the employee could be educated considering the dynamics of her syndrome and if she could be persuaded to give good effort, he recommended a pain clinic for her condition, such as the one at the University of Washington. 

The employer deposed Dr. Early on October 11, 2002.  In the deposition, Dr. Early testified his diagnosis of the employee’s Axis I pain syndrome depended on her having an organic injury.
  He testified he reviewed Dr. McGregor’s report after his own examination of the employee, but it simply strengthened his own opinion.

The employer sent the employee to be evaluated by James Robinson, M.D, Ph.D., at the University of Washington Medical Center, Pain Center on October 29, 2002.  Dr. Robinson found evidence of a diffuse chronic pain syndrome.
   Dr Robinson noted her L4-5 herniation, and indicated that it could be playing a role in some of her symptoms, but could not explain the diffuse symptoms she reported.
  He noted she exhibited four of the five Waddell signs during the examination of her low back.
  He could not determine whether a diagnosis of symptomatic lumbar disk injury or of nonspecific lumbosacral strain would be appropriate.
  Because the employee expressed severe functional limitations, and because she insisted that surgery was necessary to address her pain, Dr. Robinson did not believe she was a candidate for a structured pain rehabilitation program.

As part of the employer’s referral to the University of Washington Pain Center, the employee was also seen by psychologist Michael Boltwood, Ph.D., on October 28, 2002, as part of the multi-disciplinary screening evaluation for the pain center program.  Dr. Boltwood administered the MMPI II, and interpreted the results to show a histrionic personality disorder on Axis II, and a pain disorder / adjustment disorder on Axis I.
  He felt the employee was not a good candidate for the university pain management program because she was fixated on undergoing surgery as the only way to resolve her pain.
  Dr. Boltwood expressed concern at Dr. Turco’s diagnosis of conversion disorder, noting that the DSM IV
 cautions that conversion disorder can be misdiagnosed in people with an organic injury.
  He indicated the DSM IV directs that the diagnosis of pain disorder should be used if the etiology of the condition is not clear. 
  Because the physicians have differing opinions concerning the cause of the employee’s complaints, Dr. Boltwood indicated the DSM IV category for pain disorder should have been used by Dr. Turco.   

The employer then had Dr. Turco examine the medical records and psychiatric records concerning the employee, depositions, and the transcript of the first hearing.  In his January 27, 2003 report, Dr. Turco discussed the employee’s physically and mentally abusive relationship with her two husbands and the early incestuous sexual abuse of the employee.
  He noted she was hospitalized three times as a result of battering.
  He noted records indicating she had head, neck, back, and right arm pains from a motor vehicle accident on August 10, 2001.
  He noted Fairbanks Memorial Hospital emergency room notes from December 5, 2001 for treatment of extreme low back pain, for which she was self-treating with Cocaine.
  He found no organic basis for the employee’s physical complaints in the medical records, and diagnosed her to suffer a conversion disorder and hysterical personality disorder.
  

Dr. Turco felt Dr. Early was wrong in believing the employee’s condition was worsened by her injury because contemporary psychiatric thinking holds that personality disorders cannot be worsened,
 and because the medical records show her herniation was symptomless.
  Dr. Turco criticized the opinion of Dr. Boltwood, indicating he failed to read all the medical records, lacked a medical background, and used a “cookbook method in mechanically applying the DSM IV.
 

On July 31, 2003, Dr. Cobden, using the DRE method, rated the employee with a category 2 impairment,
 under the AMA Guides.
  On April 19, 2004, the employer filed a Request for Cross-Examination
 of Dr. Cobden, objecting to our consideration of the PPI rating under 8 AAC 45.052(c)(2).

The employer also had Dr. Joosse review the medical record.  In his May 9, 2004 report, he found the employee is neurologically intact, and not a candidate for surgery.
  He believed her shoulder pain and L4-5 herniation are not work-related, but most likely the result of beatings by a former partner, or a result of other injuries.
  He indicated she was medically stable when he examined her on April 4, 2001, and able to return to her work at the time of injury.
  Dr. Joosse felt the employee suffered no work injury, ratable under the AMA Guides.
  

On March 24, 2003, the employee filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing.  On April 28, 2004, the employer filed a petition for reimbursement of the benefits paid to the employee, under AS 23.30.250(b), and for referral of the employee to the Department of Law for prosecution under AS 23.30.250(a).  In a prehearing conference on April 29, 2004, the Board Designee set the employee’s claim and the employer’s petition for hearing on May 20, 2004.

At the hearing on May 20, 2004, the employee testified she injured her neck and back while twisting to set a patient into a wheelchair, while the patient hung on her neck.  She testified she has never had symptoms like those resulting from her injury.  She testified her symptoms were intermittent.  She denied she lied about her past, asserting that she cannot legally discuss some of her history concerning domestic violence.  She testified she had reported to her employer that she was missing work for pneumonia in September 2000, when she was hospitalized for psychiatric care, because the employer had no right to know about her psychiatric problems.  She testified Dr. Cobden recently told her she needs a personal care attendant.  

At the hearing the employee’s fiancé, Richard Muhlethaler, testified the employee has good days and bad days, that when she overdoes it, she has to stay in bed for a day or two and cannot walk up stairs.  He testified he does all the heavy lifting for her.  He testified she is often frustrated and angry because she cannot do all the things she once did.

At the hearing the employee’s friend, Steve Woodward, testified that he had known the employee for many years.  He testified that before her injury she was an active user of motorcycles, snowmachines, and personal watercraft.

At the hearing the employee’s landlord, Terry McLean, testified he is her landlord.  He testified he has known her since 1993, when she was in the mechanical game business.  He testified she was then very strong, physically, and that he had seen her moving a heavy Crane Game unit by herself.  He testified she was very patient with her daughter.

At the hearing, Dr. Turco, testified the employee exhibits hysteria and has a conversion disorder from the repeated physical and emotional developmental trauma of her life.  As a consequence, she systematically develops complaints with no physical basis.  Dr. Turco testified he could not say, on a more probable than not basis, that the employee was motivated by secondary gain in her statements.  He testified her minor work injury was not a substantial factor in the development or aggravation of her conversion disorder.  He testified the records show she actually had persistent symptoms since the time of her August 2001 motor vehicle accident.

At the hearing, adjuster Lynn Palazzotto testified she is a claims adjuster with Northern Adjusters, assigned to handle the employee’s claim.   She testified the employee was paid a total of $31,576.62 in benefits for her claim.  She testified the employer paid medical benefits through April 18, 2001.

At the hearing, Northern Investigations private investigator Jeremy Dunning testified he surreptitiously observed the employee on April 29, 2004, and that he unsuccessfully attempted to observe her on May 8, 2004.
  He testified that on April 28, 2004, he observed her limping and ascending the stairs to the Fairbanks Workers’ Compensation office with difficulty. He testified the employee left that office, still limping, and showed difficulty in getting into her truck.  Mr. Dunning followed her to several stores and a residence.  He testified her gait was normal at each of those places, and that she entered the truck easily.  He testified she showed no physical impairment.

In the hearing, and in his brief, the employee argued she herniated a disk at L4-5 in her work injury, as well as her left shoulder, neck, and right knee.  She argued Dr. Cobden’s July 3, 2004 opinion indicates she is permanently impaired from the injury.  She argued that her psychiatric difficulties pre-existed her injury, but she had always been able to work.  She contended seven or eight physicians found her condition to be work-related.  She noted that she is now pregnant, but that her work injuries will necessitate her having a Caesarian section birth.  Although she may have some psychological factors in her condition, she argued she suffered a permanent physical injury at work.  She asserted she had been in good health before her work injury. She asserted she had been telling the truth, but forgot some things.

In the hearing, and in its brief, the employer argued Dr. Early’s opinion that the employee’s injury aggravated her condition was based on that physician’s assumption the employee had a persistent organic injury as a result of her work incident.  It asserted the preponderance of the medical evidence indicated the employee had no continuing symptoms related to her work incident.  The employer noted the employee failed to disclose her pre-existing back and neck problems to Drs. Cobden and Unsicker, so their opinions should be given little weight.  It argued Drs. Joosse and McDermot found no lasting injury from the employee’s work incident, and Dr. Turco fully explained the cause and origin of her complaints, rebutting the presumption of compensability of her claim of disability.  The employer argued the employee’s claim parallels the facts of  Bustamante v. Spacemark,
 in which Dr. Turco showed that Mr. Bustamante’s wrist symptoms were caused by his pre-existing conversion disorder, and not by his work.  It argued the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee’s complaints are unrelated to her work injury. 

The employer argued the diagnosis of a herniated disc is not an accurate diagnosis, given the clinical picture, since numerous physician’s found this injury was not consistent with the employee’s pattern of complaints.  The employer asserted that asymptomatic herniated discs are common.  It also asserted, based on Dr. Joosse’s May 9, 2004 report, the herniated disc was more likely the result of one of her beatings by a former boyfriend.  

The employer argued the employee made many false and misleading statements to the physicians and to us, in order to obtain benefits.  Attached to the employee’s hearing brief was a list of inconsistencies between the employee’s deposition and hearing testimony concerning her previous injuries and health, concerning sexual and physical abuse, and concerning her physical capabilities.  It argued we should order the employee to repay benefits and attorney fees and costs to the employer, under AS 23.30.250(b), and that we should refer her to the Attorney General’s for prosecution under AS 23.30.250(a).

2).
In the June 25, 2004 Decision and Order, the Board reviewed the record, made findings of fact, and concluded as follows, in part:

. . . We note the employee’s history is replete with psychological trauma unrelated to work, and her history of psychological difficulties of one form or another clearly extends to her teen years.  We find the employee’s testimony is rife with contradictions and misapprehensions of reality, and we must conclude she is not a credible historian.
  Nevertheless, the extensive medical records of her treating physicians provide a long-term view of her treating physicians’ consistent examinations, observations, and treatment.  We find the preponderance of the evidence in the available medical record, especially the opinions of Drs. Cobden, Unsicker, and McGregor, indicate that the employee has persisting and disabling lumbar and cervical pain, related to her injury of October 2, 2000.  

We share Dr. Boltwood’s concern at Dr. Turco’s diagnosis of conversion disorder, in the face of mixed evidence concerning organic injury as one of the causes of the employee’s complaints.  We are constrained to give less weight to his opinion than to that of Dr. Early and Dr. Boltwood.  We find that the preponderance of the evidence, especially the opinions of Drs. Early and Boltwood indicate that she suffers a disabling pain disorder, substantially related to her work injury.

. . . .

Based on the preponderance of the evidence, and especially on the January 7, 2002 medical report of her treating physician, Dr. Cobden, we find the employee’s back and cervical conditions were medically stable as of that date, ready for a PPI rating.  Although Dr. Early indicated her work-related pain disorder condition was not yet medically stable, she was not able to pass the screening for a pain clinic, the only curative treatment Dr. Early recommended.  We have no indication of significant change in her pain disorder following that date.  Accordingly, we find the employee’s pain disorder was medically stable, as defined by AS 23.30.395(21) on June 6, 2002, 45 days after Dr. Early’s examination.  Accordingly, we find the employee reached medical stability for her work-related conditions as of June 6, 2002.  

Upon further review of the record, we find no clear and convincing evidence to rebut that finding.  We conclude the employee is not entitled to TTD benefits after that date.  Accordingly, we conclude the employee is entitled to TTD benefits during periods of disability between April 14, 2001 and June 6, 2002.
  

. . . Dr. Cobden rated the employee with a DRE category 2 impairment, i.e. a five to eight percent PPI, under the AMA Guides
 on July 31, 2003.   

The employer received Dr. Cobden’s report on November 10, 2003, but did not file it until April 13, 2004, and filed its objection / cross examination request on April 19, 2004.  To ensure full disclosure and the orderly litigation of claims, under AS 23.30.095(h) parties have a duty to file all medical reports in their possession within five days of receiving a claim, and under 8 AAC 45.052(d) must file updated medical summaries within five days of receiving new medical records thereafter.  The effect of a Request for Cross-Examination is generally to shift the burden to the opposing party of deposing the physician or producing the physician for hearing.  In the instant case, the employer did not file the report, and its objection to the report, until shortly before the hearing. 

Under 8 AAC 45.052(b) the employer was required to file and serve Dr. Cobden’s report within five days of receiving it, by November 15, 2003.  The Request for Cross-Examination for this document under 8 AAC 45.052(c)(2) had to be filed by November 25, 2003.  Accordingly, we find the cross-examination request was not timely, and we will consider the July 31, 2003 report of Dr. Cobden.

Ratings under the AMA Guides must be a specific percentage of impairment.
  Dr. Cobden’s rating is not a specific percentage, but just a general category with a range of impairment.  We find the record contains no rating of the employee under the AMA Guides.  We conclude there is no basis, on the present record, to award PPI benefits under AS 23.30.195.  Accordingly, we must dismiss this claim at present, without prejudice.

. . . In the instant case, we find the employee’s testimony concerning her injury and need for medical treatment, together with the opinions of Dr. Cobden, PA-C Meffley, and her various treating physicians, that the employee’s work injury necessitated the medical treatment provided, are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of the compensability for the claimed medical benefits and medical transportation and lodging costs.   

. . . in Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held specific medical treatment sought by an injured worker within two years of an injury is compensable, unless the employer can meet the “heavy burden” of proving such care is unreasonable, unnecessary and outside the scope of accepted medical practice . . . . the employee may choose to follow the recommendations of his/her own physician. . . .  The employee’s physicians recommended and provided conservative medical care.  

We note that medical benefits were claimed by the claimant, and controverted by the employer, within the two-year time limit of Hibdon.  In our review of the record of this case, we cannot find medical evidence to show the medical benefits received were not reasonable, not necessary, and not within the realm of acceptable medical practice.
  Based on our review of the record, we find the claimant is entitled to conservative medical benefits for her cervical and lumbar conditions, as recommended by her physicians pursuant to AS 23.30.095(a).
  

The only recommendation for treatment related to her paid disorder was attendance at a pain management clinic.  Nevertheless, the screening evaluations at the University of Washington Medical Center, Pain Center, indicated the employee is not an appropriate candidate for a pain management program.  The record contains no evidence contrary to the screening evaluation.  Accordingly, we can award no specific psychological treatment benefits, at this time.

Although the record is full of the employee’s stated interest in surgery, we find no medical recommendation for surgery in the record.  We find there is not even enough evidence to raise the presumption of compensability of surgery.  We conclude that surgery is not reasonable or necessary for the employee.  Based on the medical record, especially the records of Dr. Cobden, we find that only conservative care for the employee’s cervical and lumbar conditions is reasonable and necessary for the employee.

. . . .

In this case, two controversions were based on the first medical report of Dr. Joosse, and two controversions were under AS 23.30.108(a), based on the employee’s refusal to sign releases.  In all four controversions we find the employer had substantial evidence to support its controversions.  We find there was a sufficient basis for the employer to file these controversions in good faith, and we cannot find they were frivolous and unfair.  We conclude that 23.30.155(o) is not applicable to any of the controversions.

. . . .

All of the psychological and psychiatric records and opinions indicate the employee suffers a histrionic personality disorder and some form of personality disorder that distorts her perceptions of her health and history.  None of these opinions or records indicate she is intentionally lying about her symptoms or condition.  Dr. Turco specifically testified he could not say on a more probable than not basis that the employee was motivated by secondary gain in her statements.  The preponderance of the evidence clearly indicates the employee’s statements reflect distorted perceptions and less-than-accurate beliefs.  We cannot find the preponderance of the evidence indicates the employee has been “knowingly” deceptive about her perceived condition.

Additionally, despite the egregious inconsistencies and inaccuracies in the employee’s statements, we find insufficient evidence to indicate the employee received specific benefits as a result of these misstatements and misrepresentations.  Consequently, we will not order forfeiture and reimbursement of the employee’s benefits.
  
. . . .

Because we found insufficient evidence to conclude the employee knowingly made false or misleading statements to obtain benefits, we decline to refer the employee to the her to the Attorney General’s office for prosecution under AS 23.30.250(a).

3).
In the June 25, 2004 Decision and Order, the Board ordered as follows:


ORDER
1.
The employer shall pay the employee TTD benefits under AS 23.30.185, from April 14, 2001 through June 6, 2002.

 2.  
The employee’s claim for PPI benefits under AS 23.30.190 is denied, without prejudice.

3 
The employer shall provide the employee to medical benefits, under AS 23.30.095(a), in the form of reasonable and necessary conservative care related to her lumbar and cervical conditions.

4. 
The employee’s claim, under AS 23.30.155(o), that the employer frivolously and unfairly controverted his benefits, is denied and dismissed.

5.
The employer’s petition for reimbursement of the employee's benefits under AS 23.30.250(b), for knowingly making a false or misleading statement to obtain benefits, is denied and dismissed.

6. 
The employer’s petition to refer the employee for criminal prosecution, under AS 23.30.250(a), is denied and dismissed.

4).
On December 17, 2004, Donald Ives, M.D., referred her to the Advanced Pain Centers, where she again saw Dr. Stinson, on September 15, 2005.  Dr. Stinson noted psychological and pain behavior, and referred her to physical therapy and to the University of Washington pain management program.

5).
At the employer's request, the employee was evaluated by orthopedist Steven Schilperoort, M.D., October 18, 2005.
  In his report, Dr. Schilperoort noted mild cervical and lumbar  degenerative arthritis and an old L4-5 herniation,  but diagnosed personality disorder and symptom magnification.
  He believed the delay between her injury and the inception of treatment indicated there was no causal relation between her work incident and her condition, and recommended no treatment.
  He opined she was medically stable, with no ratable impairment related to her injury, and able to return to her work.

6.)
Dr. Robinson again saw the employee at the University of Washington Pain Center on January 18, 2006, noted her abnormal behavior in the examination and indicated he did not believe she was a good candidate for the pain program.
   Dr. Robinson recommended against high dose opiate therapy.
  He did not believe she should return to work as a nurse’s aide, but indicated she could perform light duty work.

7.)
On January 24, 2006, the employee saw Dr. Ives who prescribed non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medication.
 

8.)
As part of the employee’s unsuccessful application for Social Security Disability (“SSD”) benefits and Supplemental Security Income (“SSI”), on July 5, 2006 she was examined by psychologist Frank Nelson, PhD, who diagnosed somatoform disorder and deferred to medical opinion whether her reported work injury contributed to her chronic pain.
  She was also evaluated on July 6, 2006 by psychiatrist Wandel Winn, M.D., who diagnosed somatoform disorder and personality disorder, noted inconsistencies, and indicated a need to rule out malingering.

9.)  
The employee again saw Dr. McGregor on August 15, 2006, and was referred for cervical imaging.

10.)
The employee came into the Fairbanks Memorial Hospital Emergency Room on September 14, 2006, chased into the parking lot by at least five Alaska State Trooper vehicles which had pursued her at speeds of up to 120 miles per hour while she had her toddler in a child seat in the vehicle.
  The employee reported injuring her neck, or being impaled by a splinter, when she slid on a roof she was repairing.  The hospital staff could identify no injury, suspected intoxication, and turned her over to the Troopers. 

11.)
In a review of additional records for the employer on September 17, 2007, Dr. Schilperoort reaffirmed his earlier opinion.
  Based on his review of surveillance videos, he added malingering to his diagnosis.

12.)
The employee filed a Workers' Compensation Claim dated February 4, 2008, requesting TTD benefits from June 6, 2002 through 2008, PPI benefits, medical benefits, a compensation rate adjustment, penalty, interest, and unfair and frivolous contoversion.
  The employer filed an Answer dated February 9, 2008, denying the claim,
 and a Notice of Controversion dated March 4, 2008, denying the claimed benefits based on Dr. Schilperoort's opinion.
  

13.)
The employee saw neurosugeon Paul Jensen, M.D., on April 14, 2009.  Dr. Jensen diagnosed cervical and lumbar chronic pain syndrome of uncertain etiology.
  He recommended evaluation for a possible dorsal column stimulator.

14.)
On April 17, 2009 PA-C Meffley referred the employee to the Advanced Pain Centers for steroid injections, and Shan Jiang, M.D., began a series of epidural steroid injections on June 2, 2009.

15.)
The Board ordered an SIME examination by orthopedic surgeon Bruce McCormack, M.D., which took place on July 22, 2009.  In his report, Dr. McCormack indicated the employee’s complaints of subjective pain were disproportionate to objective findings.
  He believed the employee was medically stable from her work injury within six months, and none of the employee’s current symptoms related to her work injury.
  He indicated her pain syndrome was due to psychiatric illness, and he could not rule out malingering.
  He approved the SCODDOT
 job descriptions for the four types of work the employee performed for the ten years leading up to her work injury, believed the employee could return to her work at the time of her injury, and all work she did during the preceding ten years.

16.)
Dr. Turco wrote an addendum EME report on February 15, 2010, reviewing updated records and changing his diagnosis to malingering.

17.)
The employer provided Dr. McCormack additional medical records and surveillance videos, and he confirmed his opinions in addendum reports on March 17, 2010, and May 10, 2010.

18.)
The employee filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing.
  In a prehearing conference on April 29, 2010, the Board Designee set the employee’s claim for hearing on July 15, 2010.
  The Prehearing Conference Summary listed the employee’s amended claim for hearing as: PPI benefits, TPD benefits, PTD benefits, medical benefits, penalty, interest, and unfair and frivolous contoversion.
  

19.)
In the hearing on July 15, 2010,
 Wayne Willott of Northern Investigative Associates testified concerning his surreptitious videoing of the employee from November 15 through 18, 2005.  These videos were shown, in part, to the Board panel.  Mr. Willott testified he believed the employee showed disability only when leaving a physician’s office.

20.)
Dr. Turco testified he has reviewed all the available medical records and surveillance tapes, and his diagnosis is now malingering and secondary gain.  He said the employee has shown a history of antisocial behavior and out-of-control substance abuse, revealing a personality disorder.  He testified the employee’s work was not a factor in any of her psychological issues, and that her psychiatric condition does not restrict her from work.

21.)
Agent Thomas Clarke formerly worked with the Fairbanks Police Department drug unit, and was later detailed to the State Troopers drug task force.  He testified he worked undercover in the Fairbanks area in 2001, and during that time the employee secured cocaine for him on several occasions, usually acting as a go-between for her “husband.” 

22.)
Rehabilitation Specialist Carol Jacobsen, RN, testified she had undertaken a labor market survey for the Fairbanks area, at the employer’s request, and prepared a report dated June 1, 2010.
  Based on Dr. McCormack’s SIME report, Ms. Jacobsen indicated the employee has the physical capacity to perform a number of jobs from her ten-year work history leading up to her work injury:  Cashier-Checker, Home Health Aide, and Sales Clerk.  Ms. Jacobsen testified she found a reasonable number of job openings for each of these jobs in the Fairbanks area.

23.)
Geraldine Maynard testified the employee’s mother had been her best friend, and she has known the employee for 16 years.  She testified that before her injury, the employee worked “all the time,” although she could not recall any specific job the employee held.

24.)
Ashley Sibley testified she is the employee’s daughter, and that she witnessed the impact of her mother’s work injury.  She testified the employee worked constantly, had a good income and good house before her injury.  Ms. Sibley testified that following her mother’s injury, she was unable to work or properly take care of her home.

25.)
Susan Failla testified she had been a childhood friend of the employee, and their families used to go hiking, camping, and fishing together.  She testified she subsequently married the employee’s father.  She testified she knew nothing of the childhood abuse of the employee until many years later.  She testified she is unaware of any alcohol or drug abuse by the employee.

26.)
In the hearing on July 15, 2010, the employee testified Dr. Jiang had released her to work six hours per day, and she had been working at Michael’s as a front end supervisor, earning $9.75 per hour.  She testified her condition was getting progressively worse, and so no PPI rating has been possible.  She testified Medicaid has been paying for her medical care for some time.  She indicated around $10,000 was due to the Fairbanks Memorial Hospital, but did not identify any specific outstanding bills which she related to her work injury.  She testified the injections and physical therapy she has received from Drs. Jensen and Jiang have been beneficial.  She testified she raised a claim for PTD benefits because she felt she should claim all benefits.  The employee testified she believed the police had been “escorting” her to the hospital emergency room at high speeds and with flashing lights during the incident on September 14, 2006.  

27.)
In the September 3, 2010 hearing the employee testified Michael’s had not been giving her enough hours of work, and so she had switched to working at Safeway, where she has been able to work 32 to 40 hours per week at $9.99 per hour.  She testified she had cooperated with the US Drug Enforcement Agency during the period Mr. Thomas described, and that she was instrumental in bringing down the Hell’s Angels in the Fairbanks area.

28.)
In the hearing and in her brief, the employee argued the treatment from her physicians has been beneficial.  She contended her histrionic personality disorder arises from the stress of defending her claim.  She argued she will need TPD benefits for life.  She additionally argued the employer frivolously and unfairly controverted her benefits because it chose to rely only on the opinions of Drs. Turco and McCormack, and ignore other medical opinions.

29.)
In the hearing and in its brief, the employer argued the employee has systematically and intentionally mislead the employer, the physicians, and the Board; and she is malingering.  It argued the preponderance of the medical evidence shows the employee recovered from her work injury within six months, and her psychological problems are long-standing and not related to her work injury.  The employer asserted it had provided the employee conservative medical care until the incident on the roof in 2006, and that the employee’s claim should now be barred by AS 23.30.105, AS 23.30.110(c), and the equitable doctrine of laches.  

30.)
The employer requested the Board to rule on its objection to admitting into the record a packet of information filed by the employee on July 2, 2010, less than 20 days before the July 15, 2010 hearing.  The employer additionally objected that it had not timely received a copy of Dr. Cobden’s July 31, 2003 PPI rating, and therefore its cross-examination request should not have been considered untimely and should not have been overruled in the Board’s June 25, 2004 Decision and Order.  The employer submitted a packet of records in the hearing, which were filed by the Board and a copy provided to the employee immediately following the hearing.

31.)
As requested, the Board subsequently considered the employer’s objection to the packet of records submitted by the employee on July 2, 2010.  Because the records were not filed 20 days before the beginning of the July 15, 2010 hearing, under 8 AAC 45.120(i), the Board determined it will not rely on those documents in making its decision.  The Board additionally reviewed the record concerning the employer’s objection to Dr. Cobden’s July 31, 2003 medical report, and re-examined its ruling finding the report admissible in the June 25, 2004 Decision and Order.  The Board reaffirms its ruling on that report in the June 25, 2004 Decision and Order for the reasons cited in that decision.
    

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.120(a) PRESUMPTIONS reads, in part:  

In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . .  

The Alaska Supreme Court in Meek v. Unocal Corp held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute,"
 and held the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) specifically applies to claims for PTD benefits.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
   The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed treatment and employment.
  Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be produced showing the claimed benefits are not due for the work-related injury.
  “Substantial evidence” is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion.
 Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  Once substantial evidence shows the claimed conditions are not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  

AS 23.30.200(a) . . . TEMPORARY PARTIAL DISABILITY provides:

In case of temporary partial disability resulting In decrease of earning capacity the compensation shall be 80 percent of the difference between the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages before the injury and the wage-earning capacity of the employee after the injury in the same or another employment, to be paid during the continuance of the disability. But not to be paid more than five years.  Temporary partial disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

However, § 200 limits the duration of TPD benefits to the date of medical stability.  

AS 23.30.395(27) defines medical stability:  

"[M]edical stability" means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for addi​tional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measur​able improvement for a period of 45 days; "this presump​tion may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence . . . .

The presumption of medical stability in the statutory definition must be read in the context of the terms that "improvement. . . is not reasonably expected": To terminate the employee’s TPD benefits, the employer is required to show medical evidence to establish medical stability.  When the constitutionality
 of the medical stability provision was challenged, The Alaska Supreme Court  held: 

The evidence is easily obtained by examining the treating physician.  That is, the treating physician should have no difficulty offering an opinion on whether or not further objectively measurable improvement is expected.  The 45-day provision simply signals when that proof is necessary.  The alleged difficulty in proving the nonexistence of medical stability, simply fades when viewed in light of the proof actually required. 

In the absence of any other explicitly required burden of proof to show medical stability, the Board requires the employer to show medical stability by a preponderance of the evidence, as is standard in administrative law proceedings.
  Once medical stability is established and has continued for 45 days, it is presumed to continue until overcome by clear and convincing evidence.
  

AS 23.30.190 COMPENSATION FOR PERMANENT PARTIAL IMPAIRMENT; RATING GUIDES provides, in part:

(a) in case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041....

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment....

AS 23.30.190 is specific and mandatory that PPI ratings must be for an impairment which is partial in character and permanent in quality, and calculated under the AMA Guides.  The Board has consistently followed this statute in our decisions and orders.
  

AS 23.30.180(a) PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY provides, in part: 

In case of total disability adjudged to be permanent 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the total disability…. [P]ermanent total disability is determined in accordance with the facts. 

In Sulkosky v. Morrison-Knudsen, the Alaska Supreme Court held that in a claim for PTD benefits, the employee must prove that there is not "regularly and continuously available work in the area suited to the [employee's] capabilities," that he is at best "an 'odd lot' worker."
  The term "oddlot," is explained in Hewing v. Peter Kiewit & Sons
 by citation to Justice William Cardozo's opinion in Jordan v. Decorative Co. (cite omitted).  "He is the 'odd lot' man, the 'nondescript in the labor market.'  Work if he gets it, is likely to be casual and intermittent. . . . Rebuff, if suffered, might reasonably be ascribed to the narrow opportunities that await the sick and halt. (Footnote and citations omitted).
  In J.B. Warrack v. Roan, the Court held total disability is work injury-related inability to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for them does not exist.

In order to determine whether regular and continuous work is available "suited to [the employee's] capabilities," the Board must consider the factors identified by the Alaska Supreme Court in Hewing.  The factors to be considered "include not only the extent of the injury, but also age, education, employment available in the area for persons with the capabilities in question, and intentions as to employment in the future."
  Applying the factors outlined in Hewing, Roan and Sulkosky, the Board must determine whether the employee has the physical abilities and vocational skills necessary to work in jobs that are regularly and continuously available.   

AS 23.30.095. MEDICAL TREATMENTS, SERVICES, AND EXAMINATIONS provides, in part: “(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....”  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under AS 23.30.095(a).
  If complications from the injury or treatment occur, the subsequent treatment would still be compensable, and the employer would still be liable for continuing medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a).

FRIVOLOUS AND UNFAIR CONTROVERSION:  AS 23.30.155 provides in part:

 (d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death.

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section . . . .

The Alaska Supreme Court held in Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc.,
 that an employer must have specific evidence for a good faith controversion under AS 23.30.155(d):  

A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty. . . . For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.

The Board has applied the Court's reasoning from Harp to our decisions concerning all sections of AS 23.30.155, and consistently requires an employer or insurer to have specific evidence on which to base a controversion.
  

In Bailey v. Texas Instruments Inc.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that the opinion of a medical witness can provide substantial evidence sufficient to allow an employer to prevail at hearing, if uncontradicted, and that such an opinion is substantial evidence
 to support a controversion in good faith.
  

INTEREST:  AS 23.30.155(p) provides, in part:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

8 AAC 45.142 INTEREST provides, in part:

If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

The courts have consistently instructed the Board to award interest for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.
  For injuries which occurred on or after July 1, 2000, AS 23.30.155(p) and the regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 requires payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.
  

ANALYSIS

I.
ENTITLEMENT TO TPD BENEFITS
The employee claims TPD benefits under AS 23.30.200, but advances no claim for a specific period of partial disability.  As noted above, the Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp. that AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.
  In the instant case, the claimant testified concerning the persistent symptoms from her 2000 injury.  The Board found the injury compensable in its 2004 Decision and Order.  Following the Court's rationale in Meek, the Board must apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to her claim for TPD benefits. 
  

Nevertheless, AS 23.30.200 limits the duration of possible TPD benefits to the date of medical stability, until “rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.”  AS 23.30.395(21).  
Based on the preponderance of the evidence, in the June 25, 2004 Decision and Order, the Board found the employee was medically stable as of  June 6, 2002.  That Decision and Order was not appealed and under AS 23.30125(a) it became final, effective July 7, 2004.

Upon further review of the entire record, the Board finds no clear and convincing evidence to rebut its finding of medical stability.  The Board must conclude its finding of medical stability effective June 6, 2002 is still in effect, and the employee is not entitled to TPD benefits after that date.  

II.
ENTITLEMENT TO PPI BENEFITS
AS 23.30.190 is specific and mandatory that PPI ratings must be for an impairment, which is partial in character and permanent in quality, and calculated under the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (“AMA Guides”).
  

In its June 25, 2005 Decision and Order, the Board found Drs. Joosse and McDermott declined to rate the employee, based on their belief the employee’s condition was not work related, and Dr. Cobden rated the employee with a DRE category 2 impairment, i.e. a five to eight percent PPI, under the AMA Guides
 on July 31, 2003.  The Board noted ratings under the AMA Guides must be a specific percentage of impairment,
 and that Dr. Cobden’s rating was not a specific percentage, but just a general category with a range of impairment.  Accordingly, the Board found the record contained no rating of the employee under the AMA Guides.  

Based on the Board’s review of the current, complete record in this proceeding, the Board finds no affirmative rating of specific impairment related to the injury.  The Board can find no basis in the present record, to award PPI benefits under AS 23.30.190.  

III.
ENTITLEMENT TO PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS 

Here, the employee is claiming PTD benefits under AS 23.30.180.  Nevertheless, the employee provided no evidence or argument showing permanent total disability under AS 23.30.180.  Therefore the presumption of compensability of the claim for these benefits has not been raised, and no PTD benefits can be awarded.
 

Even if the Board could find sufficient evidence to raise the presumption, the record contains no physician prediction the employee will be permanently disabled.  As noted above, the employee has been medically stable since June 6, 2002.  Based on the review of the full record, the Board finds the preponderance of the available evidence, especially the opinion of Dr. McCormack, indicates the employee can return to work performed in the ten years before her injury.  Based on the employee’s testimony, the record reflects that the employee actually has returned to work in the open labor market.  The Board finds no basis to award PTD benefits under AS 23.30.180.
   

IV.
ENTITLEMENT TO MEDICAL BENEFITS

Based on the preponderance of the evidence, in the June 25, 2004 Decision and Order, the Board found the employee was entitled to only reasonable and necessary conservative care for her cervical and lumbar conditions.  As noted above, that Decision and Order was not appealed, and under AS 23.30125(a) it was final effective July 7, 2004.  As noted in Carter
 employees have a continuing presumption of compensability for medical care related to work injuries.  Accordingly, this employee had a continuing presumption of compensability for that limited care following the date of the Board decision.
Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be produced showing the claimed medical benefits are not reasonable and necessary for the work-related injury.  The employer’s physician, Dr. Schilperoort opined the delay between the employee’s injury and the inception of treatment indicated there was no causal relation between her work incident and her condition, and he recommended no additional treatment.  Viewed in isolation, this opinion is substantial evidence rebutting the presumption concerning the employee’s claim for additional medical benefits, and supporting the employer’s controversion of future medical benefits. 

Once substantial evidence shows the claimed conditions are not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  Accordingly, the entire medical and hearing record must be reviewed.  

The Board finds the preponderance of the medical evidence, especially the reports and opinions of the SIME physician Dr. McCormack, indicate the employee’s work injury fully resolved long before Dr. McCormack’s examination of the employee on July 22, 2009.  Accordingly, the Board finds the employee was entitled to no additional medical care following that date.
 

Because the record does not identify any specific unpaid conservative medical treatment before that date, specifically related by any of the physicians to the employee’s work injury, we cannot award any specific medical benefits in this decision.  The Board will retain jurisdiction under AS 23.30.130 to consider modification of this order concerning possible medical bills before July 22, 2009, which may remain in dispute.

V.
FRIVOLOUS AND UNFAIR CONTROVERSION & ENTITLEMENT TO PENALTIES
As noted above, the Board has applied the Court's reasoning from Harp to its decisions concerning allegations of frivolous and unfair controversio, under AS 23.30.155.
  In the instant case, the employer has resisted the employee’s claim for continuing medical benefits by controversion, based on the opinion of Dr. Schilperoort.  In Bailey,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that the opinion of a medical witness can provide substantial evidence sufficient to allow an employer to prevail at hearing, if uncontradicted, and that such an opinion is substantial evidence to support a controversion in good faith.
  The Board finds Dr. Schilperoort’s opinion provides substantial evidence that the employee’s continuing medical problems were no longer related to her 2000 work injury.  Thus, the controversion was supported by substantial evidence and had a rational basis, under AS 23.30.155(d).    Accordingly, no penalties are due under AS 23.30.155(e).  

Additionally, because this Decision and Order awards no specific benefits, no penalties can be awarded under AS 23.30.155(e) for late payment of benefits.

VI.
ENTITLEMENT TO INTEREST
The employee’s work injury occurred after July 1, 2000, and AS 23.30.155(p) and the regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 require the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.
  This decision awards no additional benefits to the employee.  Accordingly, no interest is due to the employee under AS 23.30.155(p) or 8 AAC 45.142. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.
The employee was medically stable effective June 6, 2002, and this finding has not been rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.  The employee is not entitled to TPD benefits under AS 23.30.200 after that date.  

2.
The record contains no affirmative rating of specific impairment under the AMA Guides related to the injury.  No PPI benefits can be awarded under AS 23.30.190, on the present record.  

3.
The preponderance of the available evidence indicates the employee has the capacity to work in jobs performed in the ten years before her injury, and that the employee actually has returned to work in the open labor market.  The employee is not entitled to PTD benefits under AS 23.30.180.   

4.
The employee is entitled to no additional medical care under AS 23.30.095(a) following July 22, 2009.  No specific medical benefits are identified in the record before that date, which would be due under AS 23.30.095(a).  The Board may retain jurisdiction under AS 23.30.130 to consider modification of this order concerning possible medical bills before July 22, 2009, which may remain in dispute.

5.
As no benefits are being awarded under this decision, no penalties are due under AS 23.30.095(e), and no interest is due under AS 23.30.155(q) or 8 AAC 45.142.  No finding of frivolous or unfair controversion can be made under AS 23.30.155(o).

ORDER
1.
The employee’s claims for TPD benefits, PPI benefits, PTD benefits, additional medical benefits, penalties, interest, and frivolous and unfair controversion, are denied and dismissed.

2. 
The Board retains jurisdiction under AS 23.30.130 to consider modification of this order concerning possible medical bills incurred before July 22, 2009, which may be due under AS 23.30.095(a), and which remain in dispute.

Dated at Fairbanks, Alaska on October 8, 2010.







___/S/_________________________                                







William Walters,  Designated Chairman







___/S/________________________                                  







Jeff Bizzarro, Member







_NOT AVAILABLE FOR SIGNATURE____                                  







Thomas Tibor, Member

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of MAGGIE E. (YARBROUGH) FAILLA, employee / applicant; v. FAIRBANKS RESOURCE AGENCY, INC., employer; ALASKA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASS’N, insurer / defendants; Case No. 200020715; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Fairbanks, Alaska, on October 8, 2010.
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� Denuptiis v. Unocal Corp., 63 P.3d 272 (Alaska 2003); AS 44.62.460(e).


� The records and testimony in this case are voluminous.  This decision will address only that evidence necessary to resolve the issues in dispute.


� AWCB Decision No. 04-0151 (June 25, 2004).


� The documentary record of the employee’s claim is extensive, filling two bankers’ boxes.  This recitation addresses only those records significant and relevant to the disputed issues of this proceeding.


� PA-C Meffley report, October 6, 2001.


� Report of Occupational Injury or Illness,  October 9, 2000.


� Dr. Bartling medical report, November 20, 2000.


� Dr. Bartling medical report, November 30, 2000.


� Dr. Unsicker medical report, January 19, 2001


� MRI, January 26, 2001.


� Dr Cobden medical report, February 14, 2001.


� Dr. Onarato neurological report, March 15, 2001.


� Dr. Joosse employer’s medical evaluation (“EME”) report, April 4, 2001.


� Id.


� Id.


� Dr. Cobden medical report, April 16, 2001.


� Id.


� Id


� Id


� Id


� Id


� Controversion Notice dated April 18, 2001.


� See Prehearing Conference Summary, June 9, 2001.


� Controversion Notice dated June 15, 2001


� Compensation Report dated May 2, 2001.


� Dr. McGregor medical report, May 3, 2001.


�  The records concerning that hospitalization are in the hearing file: Fairbanks Memorial Hospital records, September 19 – 22, 2000.


� Controversion Notice dated January 17, 2002.


� Controversion Notice dated January 7, 2004.


� Dr. Turco EME report, October 11, 2001.


� Emergency room reports, Fairbanks Memorial Hospital, December 5, 2001 and December 17, 2001.


� Dr. Witham medical report, February 20, 2002.


� Dr. Cobden medical report, January 7, 2002.


� Id.


� Dr. Cobden medical report, September 4, 2002.


� Id. 


� Id. 


� Dr. McDermott SIME Report, April 22, 2002, at 5.


� Id.


� Dr. Early SIME report, April 22, 2002, at 10.


� Id. at 8-9.


� Id. at 11.


� Id. 


� Id. 


� Id. 


� Id. at 13.


� Id. 


� Id. at 11.


� Dr. Early dep. at 30-31.


� Id. at 4.


� Dr. Robinson screening examination / EME report, dated October 29, 2002, at 4.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id., cover letter.


� Dr. Boltwood screening examination / EME report, dated October 28, 2002


� Id.


� Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Ed.


� Id


� Id


� Dr. Turco EME report, January 27, 2003, at 2.


� Id.


� Id. at 3.


� Id. at 4.


� Id. at 5.


� Id. at 6.


� Id. at 8.


� Id. at 8-9.


� I.e., 5 – 8 percent PPI, p. 384.


� Dr. Cobden medical report, July 3, 2003.


� Employer Request for Cross-Examination, dated April 15, 2004.


� Dr. Cobden’s July 3, 2003 report was filed by the employer on a medical summary dated April 13, 2002.  The date stamp on the copy of Dr. Cobden’s medical report attached to the medical summary shows that the medical report was received by the employer on November 10, 2003.


� Dr. Joosse EME report, May 9, 2004, at 1.


� Id. at 1-2.


� Id. at 3.


� Id. 


� In the hearing, the employer attempted to introduce a videotape shot surreptitiously by Mr. Dunning.  The employee objected.  Because the videotape was a document not filed at least 20 days before the hearing, as required by 8 AAC45.120(f), we excluded the videotape from the record, in accord with 8 AAC45.120(i).
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